IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

NAY 20 1991

CLERK, SUPKEME COURT.

By Cylief Deputy Clerk

CRIMINAL JUSTICE STANDARDS AND TRAINING COMMISSION

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 77,767
First District Court of Appeal
Case No. 90-2366

ALVIN BRADLEY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

JOSEPH S. WHITE
Assistant General Counsel
Florida Department of Law
Enforcement
Post Office Box 1489
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 488-8323

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 8, 1988, the Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission was notified of the Respondent Bradley's separation from his employment as a correctional officer by the Department of Corrections. The separation employment was described to be an undesirable separation for misconduct. R at 1. On April 19, 1989, pursuant to notice, the presented for a probable Respondent's case was determination before a Probable Cause Panel of the Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission. R at 3-14. finding of probable cause, the Director of the Division of Criminal Justice Standards and Training filed an Administrative Complaint seeking to take disciplinary action against Bradley's correctional officer certification. The factual allegation of misconduct was that Bradley had committed a battery on Gwendolyn Jones-Holland on September 13, 1987. R at 13, 15-16. The Administrative Complaint was amended on September 21, 1989. Bradley was additionally charged with violating Respondent correctional officer standards by his improper exhibition of a firearm on December 28, 1986, and by driving under the influence of alcohol on September 13, 1987. R at 17-18.

Bradley responded to the charges by requesting a formal hearing pursuant to Section 120.57(1), Florida Statutes. On September 26, 1989, pursuant to notice, a formal hearing was convened before Hearing Officer Charles C. Adams of the Division of Administrative Hearings in Lake City, Florida. R at 20. The

Commission was represented by the undersigned. The Respondent Bradley was present and represented by his counsel Steven A. Smith. R at 30. The hearing officer heard the testimony of six witnesses and admitted five exhibits. R at 28-140.

December 6, 1989, Hearing Officer Cave filed recommended order in the case. R at 141-151. The hearing officer found that the Respondent Bradley had been certified by the Petitioner Commission on December 20, 1985, as a correctional On the night of December 27, 1986, the officer. R at 143. Respondent and a friend, Eddie Goodbread, Jr., went to the American Legion Club in Lake City to socialize. After a time at the club, the Respondent departed with a girlfriend. Goodbread the Respondent's car, parking it on Myrtle Street. Goodbread retained the keys. The Respondent and Goodbread, in the company of two women then went to the home of a friend. Subsequent to this time the two men split up. R at 144.

The Respondent and Goodbread met with one another later in the evening. The Respondent had in his coat pocket a .25 caliber automatic pistol. The Respondent was licensed to carry his weapon. However, his possession of this gun was unrelated to his duties as a correctional officer. R at 144. The Respondent told Goodbread that he (the Respondent) was ready to go home because he had to go to work the next day. Goodbread jokingly told the Respondent that the keys were locked in the Respondent's car. Although recognizing Goodbread's jest, the Respondent looked into his car and did not see the keys. Goodbread continued to retain

the keys and persisted in his joking. The Respondent insisted that he was ready to leave and took out his gun, pointing it at Goodbread. Goodbread grabbed the gun unexpectedly and it discharged. Goodbread was shot and died of his wound. R at 145.

As a result of the shooting the Respondent was indicted for exhibition of a firearm in a rude, careless, angry or threatening manner, not in necessary self defense, under Section 790.10, Florida Statutes. The Respondent plead guilty to this charge. He was sentenced to eleven days in jail, fined \$176 and placed on probation for one year. The Respondent forfeited his pistol and was forbidden by the court to possess a firearm during his probationary period. R at 145-146.

The hearing officer found that the Respondent Bradley was arrested for driving under the influence of alcoholic beverages on September 13, 1987. R at 146. The Respondent had been stopped by a Columbia County Sheriff's deputy after driving his car in a reckless manner. The Respondent's normal faculties had been impaired by his use of alcohol. His breath test results indicated readings of .16% and .15%. R at 147.

The Respondent was taken to the Columbia County Jail as a result of his DUI arrest. While jail Correctional Officer Jones-Holland attempted to fingerprint the Respondent, he twice placed his hand in the area of the officer's groin. The Respondent had done so knowingly and intentionally. Correctional Officer Jones-Holland did not invite these inappropriate touches. R at 148.

The Respondent was charged with battery on a law enforcement officer a result of his actions. R at 148.

The Respondent entered guilty pleas to DUI and to simple battery. R at 137, 148-149. He was fined \$411 and had his driver`s license suspended for six months on the DUI case. The court sentenced the Respondent to a one-year probationary period on the battery charge. R at 149.

The Hearing Officer Cave concluded that the Respondent was guilty of violations of officer standards, as set forth in Section 943.13(7), Florida Statutes, for committing improper exhibition of a firearm and for battery. He concluded that DUI, while reprehensible, was not a violation of officer standards. R at 149-151. The hearing officer recommended a six-month suspension of Bradley's certification. R at 151.

Both parties filed exceptions to the Hearing Officer's recommended order. R at 154-158. The Respondent challenged the penalty recommendation as too harsh although he did not propose a specific penalty alternative. R at 154-155. The undersigned likewise took exception to the hearing officer's recommended penalty and specified three grounds for the exception. The undersigned argued that revocation of certification was the appropriate penalty. R at 156-158.

On April 19, 1990, the Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission convened to consider the recommended order filed in the Respondent's case and the exceptions thereto. The Commission adopted the findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the recommended order, but rejected the recommended

penalty. The Commission voted to revoke the Respondent Bradley's certification for the reasons set forth in the undersigned's exceptions. The Respondent's exceptions were rejected. R at 160-166. A final order was rendered on July 11, 1990. The Respondent filed a notice of appeal on August 8, 1990. R at 168-171.

On March 1, 1991, the First District Court of Appeal entered its opinion in this cause. <u>Bradley v. Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission</u>, 16 F.L.W. D617 (Fla. 1st DCA March 1, 1991). The court reversed the Commission's order of revocation of Bradley's certificate and remanded the case with instructions to adopt the hearing officer's recommended penalty.

On March 27, 1991, the First District entered an order granting the "appellant's (sic) motion for certification." Appellee Commission had moved for certification.) The Court also withdrew its opinion of March 1 and substituted the March 27 Bradley v. Criminal Justice Standards and Training opinion. Commission, 16 F.L.W. D853 (Fla. 1st DCA March 27, 1991). court held that the Commission had erred by rejecting the sixmonth suspension recommended by the hearing officer and revoking The court found that the specified Bradley's certification. grounds for penalty enhancement had been considered by the hearing officer and the Commission's disagreement was only based on the hearing officer's assessment of the seriousness of the Noting that the Commission had adopted the hearing officer's findings of fact and conclusions of law, the court held

that an agency should not reject a hearing officer's recommended penalty without first properly rejecting, amending or substituting at least one recommended finding of fact or conclusion of law.

The Court certified that its decision was in conflict with decisions of the Third District Court of Appeal. The Third District had allowed agencies to increase the penalty recommended by the hearing officer even though the factual findings and legal conclusions had been fully adopted by the agency. The court opined however that if an agency has no quarrel with a hearing officer's findings of fact and conclusions of law, any rejection of a recommended penalty must be solely based on the invalid ground of mere disagreement with the hearing officer regarding the assessment of the seriousness of the offense. 16 F.L.W. D853.

On April 17, 1991, the Commission filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction before the First District Court of Appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has jurisdiction, under Article V, Section 3(b)(4), of the Florida Constitution to hear this case. conflict, certified by the First District Court of Appeal, exists between the First and Fifth Districts on the one hand and the Third and Fourth Districts on the other. The First and Fifth Districts have held that an agency should not reject a hearing officer's recommended penalty under Section 120.57(1)(b)10., unless it first properly rejects, modifies, or substitutes at one of the hearing officer's findings of fact least The Third and Fourth Districts have conclusions of law. permitted agencies to reject a hearing officer's recommended penalty although the agency adopted fully the hearing officer's findings of fact and conclusions of law. The Third and Fourth Districts have held this to be proper where the agencies specified reasons which were not duplicative of the hearing officer's rationale for making the penalty recommendations, which were grounded in the agencies expertise and discretion and which were supported in the record. In light of the disparity in the decisions of the district courts of appeal on the issue and the frequency of appellate litigation on the issue, this Court should accept this case and resolve the conflict.

The plain meaning of the controlling statute, Section 120.57(1)(b)10., Florida Statutes, reveals no indication that the Legislature intended a precondition to an agency's lawful rejection of a recommended penalty which was tied to a rejection

of a finding of fact or conclusion of law. This Court has held that legislative intent controls statutory construction and that the intent is primarily determined by the language of the statute. A court should not invoke a limitation or add words which were not placed in the statute by the Legislature.

The First District held that once an agency adopts a hearing officer's findings of fact and conclusions of law in toto, a rejection of a recommended penalty must necessarily be based solely on improper mere disagreement with the hearing officer's assessment of the seriousness of the violation. holding ignores the agency's ability, based on its expertise in regulated profession, to recognize significant factors bearing on the penalty which were either omitted by the hearing officer in weighing the penalty or were misapprehended by the hearing officer. In the case at bar, the Commission relied upon factors which were not considered by the hearing officer in reaching his penalty recommendation. Indeed, the hearing officer listed none of the factors which may have given rise to his penalty suggestion in his recommended order. The Commission's penalty recommendation was rejection of the supported competent substantial evidence in the record and based on the Commission's expertise in the profession. This Court recognized, in attorney discipline cases, the wisdom of a policy which allows a degree of discretion in reviewing recommended penalties, even where no error in the recommended factual findings and legal conclusions is apparent. A similar approach,

in conformance with the criteria set forth in Section 120.57(1)(b)10., should be endorsed by this Court for use by agencies.

ARGUMENT

THE SUPREME COURT HAS JURISDICTION I. CASE **BECAUSE** DECIDE THIS DISTRICT EXISTS BETWEEN THE CONFLICT COURTS OF APPEAL IN THE INTERPRETATION APPLICATION OF SECTION 120.57(1)(b)10., FLORIDA STATUTES.

Article V, Section 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(vi), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, specify that the Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal which is certified by it to be in direct conflict with a decision of another district In the case at bar, the First District Court of court of appeal. Appeal has certified to the Court a matter involving the propriety of an administrative board's rejection of a hearing officer's recommended penalty in an administrative disciplinary Bradley v. Criminal Justice Standards and Training case. Commission, 16 F.L.W. D853 (1st DCA March 27, 1991). The First and Fifth Districts have held that an agency generally may not reject a hearing officer's recommended administrative penalty unless the agency lawfully rejected a finding of fact or conclusion of law as well. The Third and Fourth Districts have approved imposition of enhanced penalties even though the agency adopted the hearing officer's findings of fact and conclusions of law in toto.

For the reasons discussed herein, the Petitioner would urge the Court to find that the First District Court of Appeal correctly certified a conflict among the district courts of appeal and that the Court has jurisdiction to decide this case. In 1984, the Legislature amended Section 120.57(1)(b)9., Florida Statutes (1983). Chapter 84-173, Laws of Florida. The amendments regarding an agency's acceptance or rejection of a hearing officer's recommended order specified:

agency may adopt the recommended order as the final order of the agency. agency in its final order may reject or conclusions modify the of law interpretation of administrative rules in the recommended order, but may not reject or modify the findings of fact unless the agency first determines from a review the complete record, and states with particularity in the order, that the findings fact were not based upon competent substantial evidence or that the proceedings on which the findings were based did not comply with essential requirements of law. agency may accept or reduce recommended penalty in a recommended order, but may not reduce or increase it without a review of the complete record and without stating with particularity its reasons therefor in the order, by citing to the record in justifying the action.

The subparagraph was renumbered 120.57(1)(b)10., in 1986.

The First District Court of Appeal applied the cited statute, as amended, in <u>Britt v. Department of Professional Regulation</u>, 492 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986). The Board of Medical Examiners' rejected a hearing officer's recommended penalty as "too lenient based on the gravity of the offenses" noting the "potential for harm" and that "the offenses constitute a breach of trust which the patient places with his physician." The court held that the statute permitted agency disagreement as to the penalty recommended by the hearing officer, provided specific reasons for the penalty increase were stated by the agency. The court further held that the board had complied with

the statute in its enhancement of the recommended penalty.

The Third District Court of Appeal, in <u>Bernal v. Department</u> of <u>Professional Regulation</u>, 517 So.2d 113 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987), held that the statute did not permit, as <u>Britt</u> had held, an agency to merely disagree with the hearing officer in assessment of the appropriate penalty. The Third District certified the conflict with the First District Court of Appeal on this issue.

This Court resolved the conflict in <u>Department of Professional Regulation v. Bernal</u>, 531 So.2d 967 (Fla. 1988). The Court approved the Third District's construction of the statute and disapproved the First District's interpretation of the law in <u>Britt</u>.

Since this Court's 1988 decision in Bernal, the district courts of appeal have again diverged on the application of this statute. The Third District Court of Appeal has decided Pages v. Department of Professional Regulation, 542 So.2d 456 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989), Grimberg v. Department of Professional Regulation, 542 457 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989), Escobar v. Department of Professional Regulation, 560 So.2d 1355 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990), Allen v. School Board of Dade County, 571 So.2d 568 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990), and Johnson v. School Board of Dade County, 16 F.L.W. D1023 (3rd DCA April 16, 1991). In three of these cases, Grimberg, Escobar, and Allen, the Third District affirmed agency actions in which the hearing officer's recommended penalty was In all three, the rejected and a greater penalty imposed. agencies had fully adopted the hearing officer's findings of fact and conclusions of law. In each of the three, the Third District

found that the agency had complied with this Court's decision in Bernal. The agencies reasons for departure were affirmed because they were not duplicative of, nor mere disagreement with, the hearing officer's reasoning, were supported in the record and demonstrated the agencies expertise and insight into the regulated profession.

Similarly, the Fourth District Court of Appeal, in Jimenez v. Department of Professional Regulation, 556 So.2d 1219 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), upheld a disciplinary action by the Board of Medical Examiners in which the Board fully adopted the hearing officer's findings of fact and conclusions of law, but imposed a more severe penalty than that recommended by the hearing officer. The court found the reasons cited by the Board to be both supported in the record and valid under this Court's decision in Bernal. However, the Fourth District reversed a disciplinary action ordered by the Board of Nursing in Hanley v. Department of Professional Regulation, 549 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). Hanley, the district court held that the factors cited by the Board to justify penalty enhancement were all specifically considered by the hearing officer when he made recommendation. The court held these to be invalid reasons under the Bernal decision. In his dissent, Judge Gunther disagreed and stated his view that the reasons relied upon by the Board were valid.

Conflict between the district courts of appeal emerged when the Fifth District decided <u>Bajrangi v. Department of Business</u>

Regulation, 561 So.2d 410 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). There, the

Department of Business Regulation had rejected a hearing officer's recommended penalty of a three-day suspension of a beverage license and imposed a twenty-day suspension. The agency adopted the hearing officer's findings of fact that the licensee had unlawfully sold an alcoholic beverage to a minor and that this misconduct subjected the licensee to an administrative penalty. However, the agency rejected the hearing officer's conclusion of law that there were no penalty guidelines in such cases.

The court found the rejection of this conclusion of law to be erroneous. The court held that the agency's stated reasons for enhancing the penalty were legally insufficient under the Bernal case. The court then went on to state:

Given that the hearing officer and the agency should always be working from the same record, the circumstances under which the agency would justified in substituting its judgment concerning the appropriate penalty for that of the hearing officer should not arise except where one or more of the hearing officer's recommended findings of fact or conclusions of are properly rejected, substituted or amended by the agency. We cannot say that no valid reason for deviation from the recommended penalty would ever be possible otherwise, but such instances are likely to be hearing officer`s The penalty recommendation this case should be in sustained.

The Fifth District's decision, in <u>Bajrangi</u>, established a virtual prerequisite to an agency's rejection of hearing officer recommended penalties. The Third District's decisions in <u>Grimberg</u> (supra), <u>Escobar</u> (supra), and <u>Allen</u> (supra), as well as the Fourth District's decision in <u>Jimenez</u> (supra) illustrate that, in those districts, an agency is not required to first

properly reject a hearing officer's factual finding or legal conclusion in order to legally enhance the recommended penalty.

The First District Court of Appeal embraced the Fifth District's rule in <u>Bairangi</u> in its decision in the instant case:

An agency should not reject the recommended penalty without properly rejecting, amending or substituting at least one recommended finding of fact or conclusion of law. 16 F.L.W. at D853.

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