IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CRIMINAL JUSTICE STANDARDS AND TRAINING COMMISSION,

Petitioner,

 \boldsymbol{v} .

Case No: 77,767
First District Court

of Appeal Case No: 90-2366

ALVIN BRADLEY,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STEPHEN A. SMITH
STEPHEN A. SMITH, P.A.
FLA. BAR #: 184438
101 EAST MADISON STREET
P.O. BOX 1792
LAKE CITY, FL 32056-1792
(904) 752-7191

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Decision of the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Bradley</u>

<u>v. Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission</u>, 16 FLW D
617 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) should be affirmed for the following two

reasons, each of which is sufficient in and of itself to support

the District Court's ruling:

- 1. The First District Court of Appeal is correct in its' ruling that an administrative agency which adopts "in toto" a Hearing Officer's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and which does not reject, substitute or amend any of the Hearing Officer's recommended findings of fact or conclusions of law, may not increase the penalty recommended by the Hearing Officer; and
- 2. Where an administrative agency adopts "in toto" the Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law of a Hearing Officer, it may not increase the recommended penalty where the factors which are the expressed grounds for rejecting the recommended penalty were specifically considered by the Hearing Officer, and the agency merely disagreed with the assessment of the seriousness of the offense by the Hearing Officer, made not as a general proposition, but tailored to the situation of the offender in particular.

ARGUMENT

I.

WHERE AN ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY ADOPTS "IN TOTO" THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OF AN IMPARTIAL HEARING OFFICER, AND DOES NOT REJECT, SUBSTITUTE OR AMEND ANY OF THE HEARING OFFICER'S RECOMMENDED FINDINGS OF FACT OR CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, MAY THE AGENCY REJECT THE HEARING OFFICER'S RECOMMENDED PENALTY AND IMPOSE A MORE SEVERE PENALTY?

The above issue is the only point on which there is any conflict among the District Courts of Appeal for the State of Florida. There is no disagreement or conflict among any of Florida's Appellate Courts on the issue of whether an agency may increase a recommended penalty simply because of a disagreement with the assessment of the seriousness of an offense by the Hearing Officer. This Court and all the District Courts of Appeal which have ruled on the issue have all held that a mere disagreement of that kind does not, under F.S. {120.57(1)(b)(10), justify a substitution of the Judgment of the agency for that of the Hearing Officer.

The First District Court of Appeal for the State of Florida in Bradley v. Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission, 16 F.L.W. D-853 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) and the Fifth District in Bajrangi v. Department of Business Regulation, Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco, 561 So.2d. 410 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), have specifically held that unless an agency rejects, substitutes or amends one or more of the Hearing Officer's

Recommended Findings of Fact or Conclusions of Law, it may not substitute its' judgment concerning the appropriate penalty for that of the Hearing Officer. The rationale for the rulings by the First and Fifth District Courts of Appeal is explained by the First District in the last paragraph of its' Decision where it states

"However, if an agency has no disagreement with the Hearing Officer's Conclusions of Law Fact, remaining Findings ο£ any and differences of opinion must a priori reflect a mere "disagreement with the assessment of the seriousness of the offense by the Hearing Officer, made not as a general proposition, but as tailored to the situation of [the offender] in particular". Bradley v. Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission, 16 F.L.W. D-853 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)

The Fifth District in <u>Bajrangi</u> said more or less the same thing when it noted that given the fact the Hearing Officer and the agency should always be working from the same record, there should be no justification for changing the penalty recommended by the Hearing Officer unless one or more of the Hearing Officer's Recommended Findings of Fact or Conclusions of Law are properly rejected, substituted or amended by the agency.

The Third District Court of Appeal in cases such as Allen v. School Board of Dade County, 571 So.2d. 568 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990) and Grimberg v. Department of Professional Regulation, 542 So.2d. 457 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) has approved an increase in the penalty recommended by a Hearing Officer even though the agencies in those cases adopted the Hearing Officer's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. However, in those cases the Third District

Court of Appeal found that there was more than a mere disagreement regarding the seriousness of the offense between the Hearing Officer and the agency. For example, in Allen v. School Board of Dade County, supra, the Hearing Officer's recommended penalty was based in part upon the proposition that the respondent could be returned to work in a position that did not put him in contact with students on a daily basis. The School Superintendent filed a motion to amend the exceptions to the Hearing Officer's Recommended Order and gave three specific reasons why the penalty should be increased. The School Board adopted the Superintendent's amended Motion and by doing so, took into consideration the School Boards inability to comply with the Hearing Officer's recommendation that Allen not come into daily contact with students.

In <u>Grimberg v. Department of Professional Regulation</u>, supra, the Hearing Officer found the physician was not competent to make a diagnosis. The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the Board's increase of the penalty recommended by the Hearing Officer and imposing a license suspension because it found Florida Law, F.S. {458.331(3), (1987) "obligated" the Board to suspend his license until it was satisfied he was capable of safely engaging in the practice of medicine.

It appears that the Third District Court of Appeal found that even though the agencies in those cases stated they were adopting the Hearing Officer's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, there had been a "de facto" rejection, substitution or amendment

of a Finding of Fact or Conclusion of Law. In Allen, it was the fact of whether the respondent could be returned to work without having contact with the students on a daily basis. In Grimberg, it was the conclusion of law that F.S. {458.331(3) mandated the suspension of the respondent's medical license in light of the fact the Hearing Officer found he was not competent to make a diagnosis, and therefore, not capable of safely engaging in the practice of medicine.

There is obviously a conflict between the decisions of the First and Fifth District Courts of Appeal and those of the Third above cited on the issue of whether there must be a rejection, substitution or amendment of findings of fact or conclusions of law before an agency may increase a recommended penalty.

Respondent respectfully suggests that the reasoning of the First and Fifth District Courts of Appeal is the more sound and should be adopted by this Honorable Court. However, even if this Court rejects the rulings of the First and Fifth District Courts of Appeal, the Order of the First District Court of Appeal in the case sub judice that the Order revoking Bradley's certificate be reversed and remanded with instructions to approve the Hearing Officer's recommendation should stand, because unlike Allen v. School Board of Dade County, supra, and Grimberg v. Department of Professional Regulations, supra, and the other decisions of the Third District Court of Appeal, there is no "de facto" rejection, substitution or amendment of a Finding of Fact or Conclusion of

Law, but instead a mere disagreement between the Commission and the Hearing Officer regarding the seriousness of Mr. Bradley's offenses.

WHERE AN ADMINISTRATIVE AGENCY ADOPTS "IN TOTO" THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW OF AN IMPARTIAL HEARING OFFICER, MAY THE AGENCY INCREASE THE RECOMMENDED PENALTY WHERE THE FACTORS WHICH ARE THE EXPRESSED GROUNDS FOR REJECTING THE RECOMMENDED PENALTY WERE SPECIFICALLY CONSIDERED BY THE HEARING OFFICER?

As was eluded to in the argument on Issue I above, this Court and all the District Courts of Appeal which have ruled on the issue, have held that mere disagreement with the Hearing Officer's assessment of the seriousness of the offense will not justify an increase in a Hearing Officer's recommended penalty. in Department of Professional Regulation v. Bernal, 531 So.2d. 967 (Fla. 1988) approved the holding of the Third District Court of Appeal in Bernal v. Department of Professional Regulation, 517 So.2d. 113 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987) that "a mere disagreement of this kind does not, under our statute, justify a substitution of the judgment of the Board for that of the Officer." Just as in the case at bar, the administrative agency in Bernal filed exceptions to the recommended penalty stating that the recommended penalty was rejected as being too lenient because the Hearing Officer had misjudged the seriousness of the respondent's offenses. The Court in Bernal v. Department of Professional Regulation, 517 So.2d. 113 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987) at Page 115, stated that such a ground does not "cite to the record in justifying the action" as required by F.S. {120.57(1)(b)(10) and more importantly "simply reflects the Board's

difference of opinion or disagreement with the assessment of the seriousness of the offense by the Hearing Officer, made not as a general proposition, but as tailored to the situation of Dr. Bernal in particular."

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in Hanley v. Department of Professional Regulation, 549 So.2d. 1164 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) held likewise. The Court in that case noted with approval the opinion of its' sister Court in Bernal v. Department of Professional Regulations, supra, that a mere disagreement with the recommendation of a Hearing Officer may not form the basis of an increased penalty. The Fourth District Court of Appeal went on to hold that the Board of Nursing's decision in Hanley, which rejected the proposed penalty as being inadequate for the potentially dangerous behavior in which the respondent had engaged, does not satisfy the Mandate of F.S. {120.57(1)(b)(10), where "the only reasons which the Board stated for increasing the penalty were factors which the Hearing Officer had already specifically considered in making his recommendations." The respondent Bradley would respectfully point out that the First District Court of Appeal in his case specifically found that the exceptions filed by the Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission by its' Assistant General Counsel, were "based on factors specifically considered by the Hearing Officer and cannot justify an increase in the recommended penalty. Hanley v. Department of Professional Regulation, 549 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989)."

In the case sub judice, the agency attempted to end-run the clear mandates of all of Florida's Appellate Courts that it could not increase the recommended penalty simply because it disagreed with the Hearing Officer's assessment of the seriousness of the offense, by citing three "aggravating factors" listed in the Commission's "Exceptions to Recommended Order" which were (1) the two violations occurred in less than a year, (2) the consequences of the conduct, and (3) appellee's lack of respect for the law.

Obviously it is preposterous to argue the Hearing Officer wasn't aware that two of the violations occurred within a year, when he put the dates of the violations in his proposed Order. It is an equally empty argument by the Commission that the Hearing Officer didn't consider the consequences of the violation when it is obvious from the proposed Order that the Hearing Officer was well aware that respondent's friend was accidentally killed when he unexpectedly grabbed petitioner's gun, and the Hearing Officer described in detail in his proposed Order the events which occurred at the Columbia County Jail when the petitioner was being finger printed for DUI.

Unlike Allen v. School Board of Dade County, supra, where the agency's exceptions to the proposed Order were founded on a substantial fact which had been misapprehended by the Hearing Officer, to-wit, the School Board's inability to insure no contact between the respondent and the students, and Grimberg v. Department of Professional Regulation, supra, which dealt with a significant

conclusion of law overlooked by the Hearing Officer, to-wit: a Florida Statute requiring the suspension of the physician's license in light of the Hearing Officer's Findings of Fact, the exceptions of the Commission in the case before this Court are without true Since all of the factors which form the basis of the substance. exceptions filed by the Criminal Justice Standards and Training Commission were considered by the Hearing Officer in Mr. Bradley's case, we are left with no possible conclusion other than the Commission simply disagreed with the Hearing Officer's assessment of the seriousness of the offense. The petitioner's statement in his brief that "in the case at bar the Commission relied upon factors which were not considered by the Hearing Officer in reaching his penalty recommendation" simply is not true, and was found to be so by the First District Court of Appeal.

The petitioner argues at Page 14-17 that since the "three aggravating factors" listed in its' exceptions were not "referenced or discussed by the Hearing Officer in his formulation of the proposed sanction" that they were not taken into consideration by the Hearing Officer in deciding upon an appropriate penalty. This argument was addressed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in Bajrangi v. Department of Business Regulation, 561 So.2d. 410 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) when, at Page 414, the Court queried:

"Suppose the Hearing Officer does not catalog exhaustively all the facts that form the basis for his or her penalty recommendation? What if the agency changes the penalty by the simple expediency of adding a factor that does not expressly appear in the recommended Final

Order, such as, in the present case, the need to protect minors from the "evils of alcohol"?"

After a careful analysis of <u>Department of Professional</u>
Regulation v. Bernal, 531 So.2d. 967 (Fla. 1988) and several other
pertinent cases, the Fifth District concluded that such an approach
would not justify changing a recommended penalty where the bottom
line is the agency and the Hearing Officer simply disagree about
the appropriate penalty. It is important to keep in mind that the
First District Court of Appeal has rejected the Commission's
argument that the Hearing Officer failed to consider the "three
aggravating factors" cited in the Commission's exceptions.

When all is said and done, there is no escaping the fact that the bottom line in this case is that the Commission and the Hearing Officer simply disagreed about the assessment of the seriousness of Mr. Bradley's offenses. This fact becomes clear when you consider the Commission's statements at Page 16 and 17 of its' brief that the Commission concluded that Mr. Bradley's actions suggested "a pattern of lawlessness and a contempt for right Unlike the Hearing Officer, the petitioner Commission considered this repeated criminality in evaluating the proper penalty." All of the facts which form the basis of the charges against Mr. Bradley were discussed in detail by the Hearing Officer in his proposed Order. The fact that the petitioner Commission considered the facts to suggest a "pattern of lawlessness", whereas the Hearing Officer apparently did not, can be nothing more than

a disagreement about the seriousness of the offenses.

Counsel for the petitioner argues that the Commission is somehow imbued with some special power that enables it to evaluate "the number and frequency" of Mr. Bradley's violations, "the consequences" in the case of a fatal shooting of another person, and "the import of Mr. Bradley's "victimization of a professional colleague". First of all, it's an insult to the Hearing Officer's intelligence to argue that he is not competent to assess that type of information which is certainly not of a specialized or technical nature and all of which was duly noted in his findings of fact. Additionally, F.S. {120.57(1)(b)3 requires that "the division shall assign a Hearing Officer with due regard to the expertise required for the particular matter." Finally, whatever expertise the Commission has in assessing such matters was certainly not evident in the proceeding in which they "rubber stamped" their "staff's" recommendations without the least bit of thought, discussion or reasoned consideration. As the First District Court of Appeal noted in <u>Hutson v. Casey</u>, 484 So.2d. 1284, (Fla. 1st DCA 1986), F.S. {120.57(1)(b)9, since renumbered 120.57(1)(b)10:

"the apparent purpose of the above statute, as amended, is to provide some assurance that the agency has gone through a thoughtful process of review and consideration before making any determination to change the recommended penalty."

In this case, the Commission simply rubber stamped its' own staff's recommendation that its' [the staff's] exceptions be adopted. Like the Court said in <u>Bajrangi v. Department of Business Regulations</u>,

supra:

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